STANDARDS AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

Date and Time:- Thursday 15 January 2026 at 2.00 p.m.

Venue:- Rotherham Town Hall, The Crofts, Moorgate Street,
Rotherham. S60 2TH

Membership:- Councillors Clarke (Chair), Lelliott (Vice-Chair), Beck,
T. Collingham, Hall, Harper, Keenan and Monk.

Parish Council Representatives:- Mr. A. Griffin and
Mr. M. Senior.

Independent Members:- Mrs. A. Bingham and
Mrs. K. Penney.

Independent Persons:- Mr. P. Beavers and Mr. D. Roper-
Newman.

The items which will be discussed are described on the agenda below and there are
reports attached which give more details.

Rotherham Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting
should inform the Chair or Governance Advisor of their intentions prior to the
meeting.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence

To receive the apologies of any Member who is unable to attend today’s
meeting.

2. Declarations of Interest

To receive declarations of interest from Members in respect of items listed on
the agenda.

3. Exclusion of Press and Public

To consider whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting
during consideration of any part of the agenda.

4. Minutes of the previous meeting held on 11th September, 2025 (Pages 3 -
7)

To consider and approve the minutes of the previous meeting held on 11t
September, 2025 as a true and correct record of the proceedings and signed
by the Chair.



10.

11.

Strengthening the Standards and Conduct Framework for Local
Authorities in England - Consultation Results and Government Response
(Pages 9 - 60)

To consider the Government’s response to the Consultation on strengthening
the standards and conduct framework for local authorities in England.

Debate not Hate Working Group - Verbal Update
To receive a verbal update on progress to date.
Review of the Sub-Committee Hearing Procedure (Pages 61 - 66)

To consider and review of the Standards and Ethics Committee Sub-
Committee Hearing Procedure.

Appointment of Independent Member (Pages 67 - 69)

To consider the appointment of an Independent Member following a
recruitment process.

A Review of Concerns Raised Pursuant to the Whistleblowing Policy
(Pages 71 -79)

To give consideration to a report regarding concerns raised pursuant to the
Whistleblowing Policy and the actions taken to address these matters.

Review of Complaints (Pages 81 - 87)

To give consideration to a report updating the Committee on the Complaints
received against Members of the Council, and Town and Parish Councillors
alleging a breach of the Code of Conduct.

Urgent Business

To determine any item which the Chair is of the opinion should be considered
as a matter of urgency.

The next meeting of the Standards and Ethics Committee will
be held on Thursday 12 March 2026
commencing at 2.00 p.m.
in Rotherham Town Hall.

Mt

JOHN EDWARDS,
Chief Executive.



Page 3 Agenda ltem 4

STANDARDS AND ETHICS COMMITTEE - 11/09/25

STANDARDS AND ETHICS COMMITTEE
11th September, 2025

Present:- Councillor Clarke (in the Chair); Councillors Beck, Harper, Keenan, Lelliott
and also Mrs. A. Bingham (Independent Member).

Also in attendance was Mr. P. Beavers (Independent Person).

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors T. Collingham, Hall, Monk,
Mrs. K. Penney (Independent Member) and Mr. D. Roper-Newman (Independent
Person).

11. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.
12. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

Resolved:- That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act
1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for (Minute Nos.
17 and 18 (Whistleblowing and Complaints) on the grounds that the
appendices to those reports involve the likely disclosure of exempt
information as defined in Paragraph 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the
Local Government Act 1972.

13. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 12TH JUNE, 2025

Resolved:- That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 12 June,
2025 were approved as a true and correct record of the proceedings.

14. APPOINTMENT OF PARISH COUNCIL MEMBERS TO THE
STANDARDS AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

Consideration was given to the report presented by the Deputy Monitoring
Officer which recommended the appointment of Parish Council Members
to the Standards and Ethics Committee following a ballot by the YLCA
(Yorkshire Local Council Association).

These positions contributed to the Standard and Ethics Committee which
comprised eight Borough Councillors, three Parish Councillors and five
Independent Members.

As a result of the three Parish Council Members, Alan Buckley, Richard
Swann and Monica Carroll, respectively standing down, resigning and the
expiry of their term of office, a ballot for new Parish Council members was
undertaken in order to determine candidates to fill these roles. As such a
ballot for new Parish Council Members had been undertaken by the YLCA
(Yorkshire Local Council Association) and the successful nominees were



Page 4

STANDARDS AND ETHICS COMMITTEE - 11/09/25

15.

16.

Councillor Lisa Gibbins, Councillor Tony Griffin and Councillor Mark
Senior.

Resolved:- (1) That Council confirm the appointment of Councillor Lisa
Gibbins, Councillor Tony Griffin and Councillor Mark Senior as co-opted
Parish Council Members of the Standards and Ethics Committee until the
Annual General Meeting of the Council in 2029.

(2) That formal thanks be recorded to the outgoing Parish Council
Members, Alan Buckley, Monica Carroll and Richard Swann for their
service and contribution to the Standards and Ethics Committee.

REVIEW OF MEMBERS' REGISTER OF INTERESTS

The Deputy Monitoring Officer outlined the need for Members to regularly
review and update their Register of Interests.

A recent review of Members’ Registers of Interests confirmed the vast
majority had been completed over the past year (if updates were
required), and appeared to be compliant, with no concerns to report.

It was noted that some Town and Parish Councils did not have a full set of
Register of Interests published on their websites and that a reminder had
been issued to Parish and Town Council Clerks reiterating the importance
for councillors to complete and have their Register of Interests published
on the relevant website.

Members would be reminded regularly via the Members’ Bulletin on the
need to periodically check their own personal register and update it
accordingly.

A more formal audit of Parish and Town Council Register of Interests
would be undertaken, with findings to be reported back to the Committee
in the New Year.

Resolved:- (1) That a reminder be included in the Members’ Bulletin by
the Monitoring Officer to act as a prompt for Members to regularly review
their Register of Interests and update accordingly.

(2) That the findings from the detailed audit on Parish and Town Council
Register of Interests be reported back to the Standards and Ethics
Committee in the New Year.

LGA'S DEBATE NOT HATE CAMPAIGN

Consideration was given to the report presented by the Deputy Monitoring
Officer which set out the objectives of and the resources available to the
Council and Members through the Local Government Association’s (LGA)
Debate Not Hate Campaign.



Page 5
STANDARDS AND ETHICS COMMITTEE - 11/09/25

The LGA recently published its latest Debate Not Hate survey, which
revealed that 70% of Councillors had experienced abuse or intimidation,
and over 50% had been targeted by misinformation campaigns. The
findings also showed a rise in online abuse. The impact of such abuse
included mental health strain, reduced civic engagement, and withdrawal
from public life.

The Debate Not Hate Campaign, has been built around a set of strategic
objectives designed to protect local democracy, support Councillors and
foster a culture of respectful political discourse. The Campaign’s
objectives included:-

Raising Public Awareness of the Role of Councillors.
Encouraging Healthy and Respectful Debate.

Improving Support for Councillors Facing Abuse.
Lobbying for Legislative and Policy Change.

Empowering Councils and Councillors to take action.
Building a Culture of Safety and Inclusion in Local Politics.

As part of the LGA’s ‘Debate Not Hate’ campaign, Councillors and
Councils would be invited to sign the associated Public Statement. The
Committee was also asked to consider whether it would be appropriate for
the Council to formally support the statement, as outlined in the report, by
means of a Motion at Full Council.

The Committee confirmed that they were supportive of the approach to
invite Councillors to sign the Public Statement, with communication to be
issued via the Members’ Bulletin. They also expressed support for
recommending the adoption of a Motion in the same terms to Council.

The Committee’s attention was drawn to the campaign’s Self-Assessment
Toolkit, which was designed to help councils evaluate existing practices
and identify areas for improvement. Views were sought on a proposal to
establish a Working Group to systematically work through the self-
assessment, explore opportunities to enhance council procedures, and
recommend any necessary changes.

The Committee’s views were also sought on where additional guidance or
support might be needed, which the Working Group could prioritise in the
initial phase of its work.

The Committee expressed concern about the upward trajectory of online
abuse and the difficulties in identifying its source or perpetrators.
Additional concerns were raised about the growing use of Al and its
potential to negatively impact democratic processes.

Whilst it was acknowledged that the Committee did not hold significant
sanctioning powers, it was recognised that it could nonetheless play a
valuable role in identifying and recommending appropriate measures to
support improvement in areas requiring attention.



Page 6

STANDARDS AND ETHICS COMMITTEE - 11/09/25

17.

18.

Discussion ensued regarding the arrangements for the Working Group,
including membership, and the anticipated frequency of meetings. It was
suggested that an email be issued via the Clerk to Committee Members
inviting expressions of interest.

Furthermore the Committee wished to write to the three local MPs on this
matter and suggested this be progressed through the Working Group.

Resolved:- (1) That the report be received and the contents noted.

(2) That the Committee noted the proposal for a motion to Full Council, in
the terms of the LGA Public Statement as set out at Paragraph 2.3 of the
report.

(3) That individual Councillors be encouraged to sign up to the public
statement referred to at Paragraph 2.3 of the report.

(4) That a Working Group be established to undertake the LGA self-
assessment and report back to the Committee with its findings and
recommendations.

A REVIEW OF CONCERNS RAISED PURSUANT TO THE
WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

Consideration was given to the report and appendix presented by the
Deputy Monitoring Officer, which provided an overview of the
Whistleblowing cases which have been received over the past year.

Particular reference was made to the appendix to the report which set out
clearly the description of the concerns received, and action taken.
Members were advised that there were no identifiable trends or recurring
issues to highlight.

Resolved:- That the Whistleblowing concerns raised over the previous
year and the actions taken to address these matters be noted.

REVIEW OF COMPLAINTS

Consideration was given to the report presented by the Deputy Monitoring
Officer, detailing the progress with the handling of complaints relating to
breaches of the Council’'s Code of Conduct for Members and Town and
Parish Councillors. The report listed the current cases of complaint and
the action being taken in respect of each one.

Reference was made to each related case and recommended
outcomes/actions identified were highlighted.

Resolved:- That the report be received and the contents noted.



19.

Page 7
STANDARDS AND ETHICS COMMITTEE - 11/09/25

URGENT BUSINESS

The Chair advised that there were no urgent items of business requiring
the Committee’s consideration.



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 9 Agenda ltem 5

Rotherham »
Metropolitan ‘
Borough Council

Public Report
Standards and Ethics Committee

Committee Name and Date of Committee Meeting
Standards and Ethics Committee - 15 January 2026

Report Title
Standards and Ethics Committee — Consultation results and Govt Response -
Strengthening the standards and conduct framework for local authorities in England

Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan?
No

Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report
N/A

Report Author(s)

Stuart Fletcher, Service Manager (Commercial and Property)
01709 823523

stuart.fletcher@rotherham.gov.uk

Ward(s) Affected
Borough-Wide

Report Summary

A report setting out the consultation results and Government’s response to the
Consultation on strengthening the standards and conduct framework for local
authorities in England.

Recommendations

1. That the Committee note the content of the report and receive further updates
as the relevant legislation progresses.

List of Appendices Included

Appendix 1 Consultation results and Govt response to the consultation on
strengthening the standards and conduct framework for local authorities in England.

Background Papers
None

Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel
None

Council Approval Required
No

Exempt from the Press and Public

Page 1 of 4



No

Page 10

Rotherham »

Metropolitan ‘
Borough Council

Standards and Ethics Committee - Consultation results and Govt Response -
Strengthening the standards and conduct framework for local authorities in

England
1. Background
1.1 As members may recall the Government conducted a consultation during

1.2

2.1

December 2024 to February 2025, entitled "Strengthening the standards and
conduct framework for local authorities in England”. The purpose of the
consultation was stated as follows:

This consultation seeks views on introducing a mandatory minimum code of
conduct for local authorities in England, and measures to strengthen the
standards and conduct regime in England to ensure consistency of approach
amongst councils investigating serious breaches of their member codes of
conduct, including the introduction of the power of suspension.

The government has now considered the substantial number of consultation
responses and published its response which is at Strengthening the standards
and conduct framework for local authorities in England — consultation results
and government response - GOV.UK and at Appendix 1.

Key Issues

In summary the government intends to implement the following measures,
which will require changes to existing legislation, and which it is stated will be
brought forward as soon as parliamentary time allows.

Mandatory code of conduct for all local authority types and tiers, including a
behavioural code.

Principal authorities must convene formal standards committees with rules
ensuring objectivity, accountability, and transparency.

Authorities must provide individual support during investigations to both
complainants and councillors against whom a complaint is made.

Introduce a statutory ‘right for review’ for complainants and councillors to have
cases reassessed.

Grant authorities power to suspend elected members for up to 6 months for
serious breaches, with options to withhold allowances and impose
premises/facility bans.

Allow interim suspension for up to 3 months in cases involving police
investigation or pending sentencing, with regular review for extensions.

Page 2 of 4


https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/strengthening-the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england/outcome/strengthening-the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england-consultation-results-and-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/strengthening-the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england/outcome/strengthening-the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england-consultation-results-and-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/strengthening-the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england/outcome/strengthening-the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england-consultation-results-and-government-response

6.1

7.1

Page 11

Rotherham »
Metropolitan ‘
Borough Council
New disqualification rule for members suspended for the maximum period
more than once within 5 years.

Establish a national appeals function for suspension or allowance decisions,
accessible only after local review processes are completed.

Members are requested to note the contents of Consultation results and
Government response and consider any matters likely to arise from the
forthcoming legislation and how this may affect the operation of the Standards
and Ethics Committee.

Options considered and recommended proposal

The recommended proposal is that the Committee considers the
Government’s consultation response and keeps abreast of likely legislative
changes of relevance to its work. The alternative option of the Committee not
considering such matters is not appropriate.

Consultation on proposal

N/A

Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision

The Government has stated that the legislative changes necessary to
implement the recommended new measures will be made as soon as
parliamentary time allows.

Financial and Procurement Advice and Implications

The officer time in dealing with this issue is met within existing Legal Services
resources.

Legal Advice and Implications

The Council and the Standards and Ethics Committee have a statutory duty to
promote and maintain high standards of conduct. Pursuant to the Localism
Act 2011, the Council is required to adopt an appropriate Code of Conduct
and arrangements for the investigation of allegations of breach of the Code of
Conduct. This consultation response is recommending measures which would
strengthen these arrangements and in particular the possible sanctions
available to the local authority.

Human Resources Advice and Implications

None
Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults

None

Page 3 of 4



10.

11.

12.

13.

Page 12

Rotherham »
Metropolitan ‘
Borough Council

Equalities and Human Rights Advice and Implications
None

Implications for Partners

None

Risks and Mitigation

None

Accountable Officer(s)
Bal Nahal, Head of Legal Services

Report Author: Stuart Fletcher, Service Manager (Commercial and Property)
01709 823523 - stuart.fletcher@rotherham.gov.uk

This report is published on the Council's website.

Page 4 of 4


mailto:stuart.fletcher@rotherham.gov.uk
https://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=

Page 13

35 GOV-UK

s

Ministry of Housing,
Communities &

Local Government

Consultation outcome

Strengthening the standards
and conduct framework for local
authorities in England —
consultation results and
government response

Updated 11 November 2025

Contents

Ministerial foreword

Introduction

Introduction of a mandatory code of conduct

Standards Committees

Empowering individuals affected by councillor misconduct to come forward
Introducing the sanction of suspension

Interim suspension

Disqualification for multiple breaches and gross misconduct

Appeals and a national appeals function

Annex - consultation responses report



Page 14

OGL

© Crown copyright 2025

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except where
otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-
licence/version/3 or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London
TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gov.uk.

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain
permission from the copyright holders concerned.

This publication is available at https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/strengthening-
the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england/outcome/strengthening-
the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england-consultation-results-and-
government-response



Page 15
Ministerial foreword

The government is committed to greater devolution, determined to fix the
foundations of local government and build a better future for local politics.

Greater devolution relies on local authorities in which elected members
embody the highest standards of conduct. The public rightly demand its
representatives act in their best interests, and that those who do not meet
the high standards of public office expected should be held to account and
appropriately sanctioned.

The ‘Strengthening the Standards and Conduct Framework for Local
Authorities in England’ consultation sought views on a whole system reform
of the standards and conduct framework for local government. The
proposed reforms consulted on reflected the government's ambition to
introduce a clearer and consistently applied standards and conduct
framework for local government in England.

The reforms aim to ensure misconduct is dealt with swiftly and fairly across
the country in every type and tier of local government — from the smallest
town or parish council to the largest regional mayoral authority. We want to
ensure that local government is empowered, fully accountable and
deserving of people’s trust and confidence.

We want local and regional government in England to attract and retain the
best possible talent, and for county, town and city halls across the country to
promote fair and reasonable democratic discourse, without slipping into
cultures which are toxic and intimidating. There will always be room for
strongly held beliefs to be represented, tested and debated, with decency
and respectful behaviours and conduct.

Of note amongst the consultation responses was testimony received from
those who highlighted the personal distress persistent bullying and
harassment can cause for elected members and officers alike, particularly
as the current regime offers no real prospect of perpetrators being properly
held to account.

In response, our reforms will put victims of elected member misconduct at
the centre of the system by providing a right to appeal standards decisions
and ensure that both complainants and respondents are supported
throughout the process of code of conduct investigations. We also want to
ensure that those complained about are given fair opportunity to make
representations and that due process is in place throughout the course of
complaints being considered.

Frustration with the lack of meaningful sanctions and safeguards, even
when elected members are under police investigation or carry out repeated
breaches, was also clearly apparent amongst respondents. For a standards



Page 16

regime to be fit for purpose it must provide both appropriate safeguards and
sanctions.

I want to thank all the 2,092 respondents to this consultation. The results
have clearly indicated there is widespread appetite for system reform and
the steers we have received from respondents have shaped our decisions
on the policy proposals this document confirms we will now be working to
take forward.

In summary, we intend to legislate for a whole system reform of the current
regime as set out in Localism Act 2011. The measures will include:

e the introduction of a mandatory code of conduct, which will include a
behavioural code, for all local authority types and tiers

 arequirement that all principal authorities convene formal standards
committees, to include provisions on the constitution of standards
committees to ensure objectivity, accountability and transparency

« the requirement that all principal authorities offer individual support during
any investigation into code of conduct allegations to both the complainant
and the councillor subject to the allegation

e the introduction at the authority level of a ‘right for review’ for both
complainant and the subject elected member to have the case
reassessed on grounds that will be set out in legislation

e powers for authorities to suspend elected members for a maximum of 6
months for serious code of conduct breaches, with the option to withhold
allowances during suspension for the most serious breaches and
introduce premises and facilities bans either in addition or as standalone
sanctions

* in response to the most serious allegations involving police investigation,
or where sentencing is pending, the introduction of powers to suspend
elected members on an interim basis for an initial period of 3 months
which, if extended, will require regular review

* a new disqualification criterion for any elected member subject to the
maximum period of suspension more than once within 5 years

» the creation of a new national appeals function, to consider appeals from
elected members to decisions to suspend them and/or withhold
allowances, and for complainants if they consider their complaint was
mishandled. Any appeal submitted will only be permitted after
complainant or elected member has invoked their ‘right for review’ of the
local standards committee decision has been invoked and that process is
completed

When this government took office, we pledged to reset the relationship with
local authorities, and a key part of that commitment is to work creatively and
collaboratively with all those with an interest in local government. We will



Page 17

continue to engage with the sector and stakeholders whilst we develop the
detail of operationalising these proposals.

| know that most local elected members are public servants working hard to
help shape and deliver excellent local public services. It is for them as much
as council employees and the public that we are determined to deal with
those who bring local government into disrepute. In recognition of how
important these reforms are to building a better future for local politics, we
intend to bring forward the necessary legislation as soon as parliamentary
time allows.

Alison McGovern MP

Minister for Local Government and Homelessness

Introduction

The Strengthening the Standards and Conduct Framework for local
authorities in England consultation
(https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/strengthening-the-standards-and-
conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england/strengthening-the-standards-and-
conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england) sought views from members
of the public, current and prospective local authority elected members, local
government officers from all types and tiers of authorities, and local
authority sector representative organisations.

The proposals and 40 consultation questions were arranged under 2
principal headings as follows:

Strengthening the Standards and Conduct framework

« mandatory minimum prescribed code of conduct

o Standards Committees

o publication of allegations and investigation outcomes

« requiring completion of investigations if an elected member stands down

« empowering individuals affected by councillor misconduct to come
forward



Page 18

Introducing the power of suspension with related
safeguards

« length of suspension

 withholding allowances and premises and facilities bans

e interim suspension

« disqualification for multiple breaches and gross misconduct
e appeals process

e potential for a national appeals body

The Localism Act 2011

(http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/part/1/chapter/7/enacted) established
the current standards and conduct framework for local authorities.

The current regime requires every local authority to adopt a code of
conduct, the contents of which must, as a minimum, be consistent with the 7
‘Nolan’ principles of standards in public life
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life)
(selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and
leadership), and set out rules on requiring members to register and disclose
pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests. Beyond these requirements, it is for
individual councils to set their own local code.

Every principal authority must also have in place arrangements under which
it can investigate allegations of breaches of its code of conduct and must
consult at least one Independent Person before coming to decisions.

There is no provision in current legislation for a sanction to suspend a
councillor found to have breached the code of conduct. Sanctions for
member code of conduct breaches are typically:

e barring members from cabinet, committee, or representative roles

* arequirement to issue an apology or undergo code of conduct training

e public criticism

Local authorities are also unable to withhold allowances from elected
members who commit serious breaches of their code of conduct, and there
is no explicit provision in legislation for authorities to impose premises bans

or facilities withdrawals where they consider that it might be beneficial to do
SO.



Page 19
The lack of meaningful sanctions, or the power to suspend elected
members for serious code of conduct breaches, means local authorities
have no effective way of dealing with more serious examples of member
misconduct.

This government response document follows the order of the proposals as
set out in the consultation document referred to above. Under each
proposal there is:

o a headline summary of the responses received
e a summary of the policy considerations
« a statement of government’s intended course of action in response

The consultation questions, a breakdown of the responses given to the
multiple-choice questions, and a summary of the narrative comments
respondents entered in the free text boxes can be found in the Annex.

Introduction of a mandatory code of
conduct

The government consultation proposed legislating to introduce a minimum
mandatory code of conduct, likely to be set out in regulations. A mandatory
code with the Seven Principles of Public Life
_(mgps://www.gov.uk/government/pubIications/the-7-principIes—of—public-life/the-?—
principles-of-public-life--2) at its core will ensure that every elected member, or
co-opted member, in England is clear what standard of conduct and
behaviour is demanded of them in all aspects of their public office.

The consistency of a shared common standard to which all will be equally
held to account, and that can be reviewed and updated as required, is a
necessary foundation to inspire the trust and confidence of every
community councils serve.

Respondents were asked:

« if they agreed in principle (and if not provide any comment)

o if they thought local authorities should be able to add to a mandatory
code

o if such a mandatory code should include a requirement for members to
cooperate with investigations into code breaches

The results were conclusively in favour of government prescribing a
mandatory code with 94% of respondents answering ‘yes’. Some 61% of



Page 20
respondents thought that there should be scope for local authorities to add
to a mandatory code to reflect local circumstances.

Mindful of avoiding the risk of confusing or diluting the consistency of
expected behaviour a mandatory code could provide, government has
considered the latter response carefully in framing this policy response. We
examined the standards and conduct framework for local government
operating in the devolved nations. All 3 devolved nations (Wales, Scotland,
and Northern Ireland) prescribe a mandatory code of conduct for local
authority members, allowing individual local authorities to develop local
guidance and/or protocols provided they align with the nationally prescribed
mandatory code.

Examples of the supplementary protocols or provisions to the mandatory
code authorities are adopting in the devolved nations typically relate to
matters such as handling conflicts of interest, use of social media, and
receipt of hospitality. Government considers it is desirable that all such
matters could be incorporated into a prescribed mandatory code.

With regards to a mandatory code including the requirement for members to
cooperate with investigations, 91% of respondents agreed with this
proposal.

In addition, government considers ensuring that the code of conduct
complaint system is used appropriately and not for vexatious politically
motivated complaints the code should confirm that submitting multiple
vexatious complaints is a sanctionable breach of the code.

- Summary

- In response to the views expressed in the consultation, the government
| proposes to legislate to prescribe a mandatory code by taking a power
in the primary legislation to set out the code in regulations.

This will provide the opportunity for further engagement on the detailed
~ content of the code and provide the flexibility to review and amend in

. future as required. Local authorities will be able to develop their own
guidance and protocols which must align with the mandatory code but
will not, in themselves, be part of the code or arrangements for
enforcement.

The mandatory code will include a behavioural code, the requirement
for elected members and co-opted members to co-operate with code of
- conduct investigations, and that submitting multiple vexatious
complaints would be a code of conduct breach.




Page 21

Standards Committees

To strengthen and support the consistent handling of misconduct
allegations, government proposed that all principal authorities, and strategic
authorities, should be required to convene a standards committee.

Some 91% of respondents agreed that all principal authorities should be
required to form a standards committee.

Comments focused mainly on the following recurring themes:

« that without effective strengthened sanctions the requirement to form a
standards committee would of itself make little impact on misconduct

« concerns about how to achieve political impartiality amongst the
membership of the committee to ensure that decisions on code of
conduct investigations are objective

As well as the function of receiving code of conduct investigation reports
and determining as appropriate any sanction, government considers that
standards committees also have a crucial role in promoting and upholding a
culture of high ethical standards for an authority. Numerous respondents
commented that there is a need for more to be done in this regard to
emphasise a greater individual and collective responsibility for ensuring that
the corporate culture of every authority rightly prioritises respectful
discourse between elected and co-opted members, officers and the pubilic.

62% of respondents agreed that sanction decisions on formal investigations
into code of conduct breach allegations should be heard and taken by a
standards committee. The government proposes to legislate for this.

In response to the question of whether Independent Persons!9n9e 1l and
co-opted members serving on standards committees should be given voting
rights, 68% agreed this is important to ensure objectivity and 63%
considered that standards committees should be chaired by an Independent
Person. Government considers that co-opted members should have voting
rights.

Government considers that there is merit in standards committees being
chaired by someone who is independent and not an elected member of the
authority, but that it would not be appropriate to be the Independent Person
whose role is defined in law as an advisor on standards investigations.

The Localism Act 2011 (Chapter 7, section 28(7)) requires every relevant
authority to appoint at least one Independent Person, whose views must be
sought and considered by the authority before it decides on an allegation



Page 22

which has been investigated. There is no intention to change the role of the
Independent Person.

Views expressed on ensuring fairess and objectivity and reducing
incidences of vexatious complaints coalesced around the following themes:

e constituting committees to ensure political impartiality

» providing the option of appropriately strengthened sanctions to ensure
that a standards committee is equipped to effectively address misconduct
and that members subject to a complaint take the process seriously

« ensuring that members of standards committees receive appropriate
training

Government believes that the consultation responses confirm that
confidence in political impartiality of standards committees is important to
ensure that every complainant and elected or co-opted member subject to a
code of conduct allegation are consistently treated fairly and objectively.

To achieve political impartiality on decisions taken in response to a code of
conduct investigation, the government will engage further with sector
representatives on what the optimum membership arrangements for
standards committees should be prior to finalising the detail of requirements
in legislation.

On the question of whether local authorities should be required to publish
annually a list of allegations of code of conduct breaches, and any
investigation outcomes views varied. 47% considered that the public should
have full access to all allegations and investigation outcomes, while 50%
thought only cases in which a member is found guilty of wrongdoing should
be published.

Government considers that local authorities should only be required to
publish a list of code of conduct allegations following full investigation and a
standards committee determination on whether to uphold the complaint or
not, and as appropriate any sanction applied. This avoids the risk of
allegations whilst an investigation is ongoing being in the public domain at a
point when it is yet to be resolved.

The final question in the standards committee section of the consultation
asked for views about whether investigations should continue to their
conclusion if the member stands down before a determination on their case
is arrived at, and if the investigation findings should still be published. A total
of 84% of respondents agreed with this proposal.

Government considers that it is important to be consistent in holding to
account any member who breaches the code of conduct or provide the
opportunity for that individual to be publicly exonerated where an



Page 23
investigation concludes there was no case to answer regardless of if they
stand down during an investigation.

Summary

In response to the views expressed with regards to standards
committees the government:

« proposes to legislate to require all relevant principal authorities to
formally constitute a standards committee (or, as appropriate, a sub-
committee convened for the purposes of considering code of conduct
cases); and engage further with sector representatives to consider
the specific requirements for the membership of standards
committees prior to legislating on the matter

« will require, subject to relevant legal restrictions, any code of conduct
investigation to be completed, and investigation findings and
decisions arising be published, including when the investigation
findings are ‘no case to answer’ and the member is exonerated, and
in the event a member stands down during an investigation.

In addition, government will:

 engage with sector representative bodies and stakeholder to develop
‘best practice’ guidance on the handling of code of conduct complaint
allegations

o retain the statutory responsibility of promoting and maintaining high
standards of conduct by elected members and co-opted members on
the authority and engage with sector representative organisations to
consider developing guidance on what more could be done by
individual authority standards committees to deliver on this
responsibility

Empowering individuals affected by
councillor misconduct to come forward

Government considers that the standards and conduct framework both
supports and underpins the principle of accountability, an important aspect
of which is to be open and supportive to challenge, and support those who
call out examples of behaviour that falls below the standards expected.

The current standards and conduct framework contains virtually no
reference to the role of complainants or victims of misconduct in the




Page 24
system. We believe this represents an imbalance that needs to be
corrected. A consequence of encouraging complainants to come forward will
likely increase the volume of complaints, but we consider that giving victims
of misconduct the faith that they will be supported in pursuing legitimate
complaints will ultimately result in a stronger standards and conduct regime.

The consultation asked local authorities to provide a figure for the average
number of code of conduct complaints received against elected members
over a 12-month period. 705 respondents answered this question. There
was a very wide variation in the number of complaints reportedly received
which likely reflects whether the respondent local authority type was a
principal authority with multiple parishes in their area. Responses ranged
from 0 to 174 average complaints. 48% of respondents noted receiving
between 1 and 10 complaints, whilst 14% said they received more than 10
complaints. 37% said they had received no complaints.

352 of the 705 respondents provided a breakdown of the number of
complaints made by officers, other elected members, the public, or any
other source. 55% of complaints came from the public. 12% were
complaints from other elected members, 30% were complaints from officers.

The consultation then asked anyone who currently works or had worked
within a local authority if they had been a victim of (or witnessed)
misconduct by an elected member but felt unable to come forward to
explain why that was the case. Many of the 676 responses to this question
describe the circumstances of the misconduct experienced and the
considerable personal impact. The recurrent themes that emerged included:

» a sense that a code of conduct complaint would be pointless given the
lack of meaningful sanctions in the current system is no real deterrent

» afear that the misconduct behaviours, frequently cited as bullying, would
only likely escalate and be personally directed at them

A high proportion of respondents to this question came from the parish
council sector. Parish clerks often work alone as the only paid officer or as a
member of a very small officer team. They may live in the same community
where parish councillors reside and will likely have a higher degree of
interaction with the elected members or co-opted members than officers
working in principal and upper tier authorities. All these factors serve to
amplify the personal impact on parish council staff.

630 respondents replied to the question asking if they had come forward
with a complaint what support was offered, and 1324 responded to what in
addition could be offered to support individuals raising a complaint.

In summary, the views expressed were as follows:



Page 25
« the majority reported receiving little or no support — though a handful did
indicate they had received support from the Monitoring Officer,
Independent Person or other council staff

« numerous respondents, both complainants and respondent elected
members, commented that they felt anxious, isolated and fearful during
the process

« they wanted to feel confident that they would be taken seriously and
listened to

o that if effective sanctions and consequences for misconduct were
introduced there was a need to have greater confidence in the
independence of the decision makers on cases

« they wanted the assurance that appropriate confidentiality and anonymity
for the complainant would be applied

o that access to one-to-one buddy support as needed at key stages of the
process would be helpful

In response to the question of whether elected members had ever been
subject to a code of conduct complaint and, if so, did they feel they received
appropriate support, 377 comments were received.

In summary the comments reveal the following:

o there is no consistency in the level of personal support offered to the
elected or co-opted member in a code of conduct complaint situation —a
few reported receiving support from either or both the Monitoring Officer
or the Independent Person but most stated that they had received no

support

« a significant proportion reported that the complaints were vexatious and
politically motivated so had largely not been carried forward for
investigation

Government considers that for a standards and conduct framework to
operate fairly, support should be available to all those involved in an

investigation.

As set out above, government intends to develop best practice guidance on
complaint handling which will specifically include communicating with all
those involved to ensure support is available at key stages be that with
regards to mediation, interacting with the investigation, or following a
complaint outcome decision.

Summary

As referred to in the section below entitled Appeals and a national
appeals function, in response government plans to:




Page 26
* legislate to provide both complainant and the respondent elected or
co-opted member with a ‘right for review’ of standards committee

| investigation decisions

* set out the grounds in legislation for assessing eligibility to consider a
right for review request at the local level

In addition, government will:

* include recommended actions to support those affected through the
complaint and investigation process in the best practice guidance we
have committed above to develop with sector representative
organisations and stakeholders

- o investigate with key stakeholders and sector representative
organisations the case for creating an independent confidential
helpline support offer for complainants

Introducing the sanction of suspension

The consultation proposed the introduction of the power for authorities to
suspend elected members for serious code of conduct breaches for a
maximum of 6 months, with the option to withhold allowances and institute
premises and facilities bans where deemed appropriate.

Government considers a serious code of conduct breach would be
behaviours that pose a significant reputational risk to the council, undermine
the public’s trust in local democracy, and/or where evidence exists that the
behaviours are negatively impacting the health, wellbeing, and safety of
fellow elected members and officers.

Most respondents (87%) agreed that local authorities should be given the
power to suspend members. 60% agreed that a decision to suspend should
be made by the standards committee, whilst 27% thought the decision
should be referred to an independent body. 647 comments were received
on the question of whether the decision to suspend should lie with the local
authority standards committee or be for an independent body.

Broadly, the majority of comments echoed the following themes:

 concerns that if the decision to suspend is vested in a standards
committee, the committee needs to be politically neutral and fully
transparent

 aview that a right to appeal a suspension decision should be available
and that should sit with an independent body




Page 27
As referred to in the Standards Committee section above, government
proposes to ensure the political independence of code of conduct case
decisions, and in the Appeals section below the establishment of a national
function creating a route to appeal a local decision once the local right to
review’' process has been completed.

Government considers these measures will create the necessary
safeguards to ensure independence of decision-making on any decision to
suspend. We will be working at pace in collaboration with key stakeholders
and sector representative bodies to finalise the operational details of the
national appeals function prior to bringing forward legislation on the matter.

If it were to be deemed that suspension is an appropriate response to a
code of conduct breach, 60% of respondents considered councils should be
required to put in place an alternative point of contact for constituents, whilst
31% considered it should be for councils to determine such arrangements.

Government considers that it should be for councils to make their own
arrangements for managing constituent representation during a period of
elected member suspension, as appropriate to the length of suspension and
any special responsibility roles (committee membership, cabinet portfolio
member et cetera) which may apply.

On the question of the maximum length of suspension, 51% of respondents
were of the view that government should set a maximum of 6 months. 15%
considered that the maximum period should be different and 21% did not
think the government should prescribe the maximum period. Respondents
were asked to opine on what the maximum length should be if different from
6 months, there were 371 responses to this part of the question. Whilst
there was a range of views, few thought it should be less than 6 months
with the most popular alternative length of maximum suspension suggested
as 12 months.

The government's view is that code of conduct breaches serious enough to
warrant a sanction of suspension would likely occur infrequently and 62% of
respondents agreed with this premise.

The consultation also sought views on whether councils should have the
option to withhold allowances from suspended elected members and 87%
of respondents agreed. Government considers that authorities should have
the option of withholding allowances from suspended elected members and
that a decision to do so or not should rightly be at the discretion of the
standards committee, in line with the best practice guidance the government
will be issuing, as referred to above in the Standards Committee section.

With regards to premises and facilities bans, 88% agreed that authorities
should have the power to implement these. Government believes that this
power should be available as a safeguarding measure where the nature of



Page 28
the misconduct may pose a risk to the safety and wellbeing of other elected
members, staff or members of the public.

Summary

 Inresponse, the government proposes to legislate to:

» provide authorities with a power to suspend elected members for
serious code of conduct breaches for a maximum of 6 months, with
the option to withhold allowances and institute premises and facilities
bans where deemed appropriate

e confirm that a decision to sanction with a period of suspension, and/or
institute premises and facilities bans can only be taken by a
standards committee, following receipt and consideration of a formal
investigation report, and following consideration of the views of the
Independent Person

o the legislation will enable standards committees to have the discretion
to withhold elected member allowances and ban disruptive members
from using council facilities or entering property, either as standalone
sanctions or in addition to suspension

Interim suspension

The consultation proposed a power for interim suspension when elected
members, or co-opted members, are subject to complex investigations into
serious code of conduct breaches, for example which may be referred to the
police to investigate or be pending a court hearing.

There are, from time-to-time, cases that arise when an elected member is
subject to allegations which involve police investigations, for example where
the misconduct involves allegations of a sexual offence, assault or
fraudulent behaviour.

When the media reports on elected members being arrested or awaiting
sentencing, such cases are often brought to the attention of Ministers by
concerned residents and Members of Parliament. In the context of the
standards and conduct framework, of key consideration is if the alleged
crime took place in the context of the elected member’s public role or in
their private life. However, it is recognised that at the point the issue has
become a matter of public interest, if the alleged crimes are of a serious
nature there may be safeguarding and safety considerations that the
authority may need to consider




Page 29
The consultation proposal stated that elected members on interim
suspension would continue to receive allowances until an investigation, or a
criminal investigation concludes. Based on the principle of innocent until
proven guilty, the decision to impose an interim suspension would not
therefore represent a pre-judgement of the validity of an allegation.

In addition, it was proposed that:

o interim suspensions should initially be for a maximum of 3 months, and,
after that period, the relevant standards committee should review the
case to decide whether it is in the public interest to extend

« as appropriate, the period spent on interim suspension may be deducted
from any period of suspension a standards committee subsequently
imposes

79% of respondents agreed with the proposals to suspend on an interim
basis and 73% agreed that it should be for an initial period of 3 months and
then subject to review. Free text boxes were provided for both questions
(Q28 and Q29) with 631 and 350 comments received respectively. The
headline points raised included:

« concern that complex investigations or allegations that involve police
investigations and ultimately a court judgement can take many months to
come to trial and could result in the subject member being on interim
suspension for a significant period

« that this is a sensible proposal to safeguard the subject member, staff and
mitigate reputational risk whilst investigations are ongoing

o that it is appropriate to mirror the common practice in employment
settings of interim suspension whilst investigations are conducted

o that it is right that allowances should not be withheld during interim
suspension to comply with the ‘innocent until proven guilty’ principle

Government considers that in the circumstances where interim suspension
can be deemed appropriate, as in employment settings, a local authority’s
decision to use the power to interim suspend should only be taken to
reasonably protect any of the following:

o the investigation — if there was a risk of someone damaging evidence or
influencing witnesses

o the smooth running of the authority — if there was a genuine risk to the
safety of other elected members, officers, property or business

o the person under investigation or complainant

The final consultation question asked if at the point when the initial 3-month
period of interim suspension was reached and a standards committee



Page 30

decided to extend there should be safeguards to ensure interim suspension
was not allowed to run on unchecked.

72% agreed that there should be safeguards, but 23% considered that
authorities know the details of individual cases and should be trusted to act
responsibly.

Those that agreed that there should be safeguards were asked to comment
on what they thought might be needed to ensure unlimited interim
suspension was not misused. 1908 comments were received in response to
this question, the headline summary of points included:

that the decision to confer an interim suspension should be made by an
independent body

suggesting a defined period for ongoing reviews, for example monthly or
3 monthly should be prescribed if the initial period of interim suspension
was extended

concerns that safeguards (such as a requirement to evidence that
investigations were actively ongoing) should be put in place to ensure
that interim suspension was not politically weaponised

that this should only be used for the most egregious cases

suggestion that a period of interim suspension should not exceed 6
months as per the suspension proposal, as longer than 6 months would
risk incurring Section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972 ‘vacation of
office by failure to attend meetings’

- Summary

. Inresponse the government plans to legislate to give authorities the

' power to place an elected member or co-opted member on interim
suspension in response only to serious code of conduct allegations
subject to external investigation, from the police or other bodies within
- the criminal justice system, and/or where a court hearing and

- sentencing is awaited i.e. cases where there are legitimate

- safeguarding considerations, and the council is not in control of the
pace and resolution of the investigation.

It also plans to legislate to confirm that the grounds to justify a
standards committee taking a decision to impose interim suspension
must only take place if the matter is subject to law enforcement
investigation and include:

e The seriousness of the allegations. Meaning the allegations

against the individual must be of a serious criminal nature and subject
to police investigation/pending sentencing




Page 31
o Risk of Harm. Where the nature and seriousness of the allegations is
such that if the elected member were to continue in their role during
the investigation, it could result in a risk of harm to either the public,
the complainant, the subject member, or the authority and its

reputation.

The legislation will set the maximum period of interim suspension at an
initial 3 months and require ongoing review if the case remains
unresolved after that initial period.

Government will engage further with sector representative bodies on the
question of whether authorities should be required to publish on their
website a notice of decision to place an elected member or co-opted
member on interim suspension whilst investigations are ongoing and, as
appropriate, a notice exonerating an elected member placed on interim
suspension in the event the external investigation results in no charges
being brought or when a court decides not to uphold the charge against
the subject member.

Disqualification for multiple breaches
and gross misconduct

Currently the law disqualifies anyone from standing or sitting as an elected
member if they have been convicted of any offence for which they have
received a sentence of imprisonment (suspended or not) for a period of 3
months or more (without the option of a fine) in the 5-year period before the
relevant election.

Disqualification also covers sexual offences, even if they do not result in a
custodial or suspended sentence but when the individual has been made
subject to the notification requirements under the Sexual Offences Act 2003
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sexual-offences-act-2003-notification-
requirements-england-and-wales-regulations-2012) (i.e. placed on the sex
offenders register).

The consultation sought views on proposals that elected members who are
suspended more than once during a 5-year period should be subject to
disqualification, and if immediate disqualification should apply to instances
of gross misconduct (for example, theft or physical violence impacting the
safety of other members and/or officers).

With regards to the proposal to introduce disqualification for anyone subject
to the sanction of suspension twice within a 5-year period 60% agreed, 19%



Page 32
disagreed and 15% agreed but considered disqualification should be for a
different length of time and/or with a different timeframe.

Respondents were also asked to provide any comments on the proposal,
and there were a range of views. In summary, those most often repeated
included:

e concern about the severity of this proposal which would give standards
committees the power to override an elected member’s democratic
mandate

e the suggestion disqualification should only apply when the suspension
had been for the maximum proposed period of 6 months, or alternatively
3 months or more

e that in the event of code of conduct investigation decision/outcomes
being published it should be for the electorate to decide at the next
election if an individual no longer represents them

 queries about why the proposal applies to suspension twice within a 5-
year period, when habitually an electoral term in local government is 4
years

« that disqualification should apply for the first instance of serious
misconduct and that if someone has seriously transgressed, they are not
fit for public office and the period should be longer than 5 years

Government has thought carefully about the responses to this question,
including looking at what currently applies in the devolved nations. In
Scotland, the Ethical Standards in Public Life (Scotland) Act etc. Act 2000
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2000/7/section/19) provides a framework for
the conduct of elected members and details the sanctions available to the
Standards Commission for Scotland to impose when a hearing finds a
councillor has contravened the code of conduct. These provisions include
powers to disqualify an elected member for a period not exceeding 5 years,
from being, or from being nominated for election. In Wales the power to
disqualify a councillor for up to 5 years for serious code of conduct breaches
also exists, and rests with the Adjudication Panel for Wales.

The government’s view is that introducing a measure to disqualify an
elected member subject to suspension twice for serious misconduct is
supported by the safeguards in the full suite of standards reforms it intends
to pursue. Those strengthened safeguards being a universally applied
mandatory code, best practice procedures for code of conduct complaint
handling, the requirement for formal political neutral standards committee, a
respondent’s right to review a standards committee decision, and provisions
to then take a final appeal of the decision to a national appeals function.

Government also considers that, in view of the consultation responses, the
disqualification for 2 periods of suspension should only apply if those
periods of suspension are both for the maximum period of 6 months. This



Page 33
will ensure that disqualification would only apply to at least 2 incidents of the
most serious misconduct occurring within a 5-year timeframe.

The 5-year timeframe is specified to bridge the period between the 4-year

electoral cycle to ensure that where serious misconduct repeatedly occurs
by someone who gets re-elected there is a route to address the cumulative
effect of the misconduct.

On the question of immediate disqualification for gross misconduct,
provided there has been an investigation of the incident and the elected
member has had a chance to respond before a decision is made, 82%
agreed. Comments received in response to this question tended to be
polarised around the 2 following themes:

« that the same rules that apply in an employment setting regarding gross
misconduct should also apply to elected members

o that it is an unnecessary measure, and the proposed interim suspension
could suffice in such cases awaiting outcome of police investigation
following arrest or sentencing

Considering the government’s intention to introduce interim suspension for
serious code of conduct breaches subject to police investigation and/or
awaiting sentencing from the courts, it is not in addition appropriate to
introduce disqualification on the grounds of gross misconduct. However,
government does consider that in cases of serious misconduct repeatedly
occurring councils do need a means of curbing egregious disruptive
behaviour.

Summary

In response the government intends to introduce legislation to disqualify
an elected member or co-opted member if they receive a sanction of
suspension for the maximum period of 6 months twice over a 5-year
period.

Appeals and a national appeals function

The consultation proposed that any elected member subject to a decision to
suspend them should have the right to appeal, that an appeal should be
invoked within 5 working days of notification of a suspension decision and
that an appeal hearing should be conducted within 28 working days.




Page 34
A significant majority of respondents (86%) agreed that elected members
should have the right to appeal a decision to suspend them. 53% agreed
with the proposals that an appeal should be made within 5 working days
and a further 36% considered that a different length of time within which to
bring an should apply. Views were invited on the latter point and ranged
between 7 working days to 100, with the most popular alternative to the
proposed 5 working days being 10 or 14.

Respondents were also asked if complainants should have a right of appeal
if a decision was taken not to investigate their complaint and if they should
have a right of appeal when an allegation of misconduct is not upheld. The
majority answered yes to both questions with 53% agreeing to the first
question and 46% agreeing to the second. Those not in agreement were
30% and 35% respectively. For those who responded ‘yes’ to either of these
questions they were then invited to give their view on the most suitable
route of appeal for either or both situations. Comments received included:

e a suggestion that complainants should receive a notification of the
grounds for refusal to investigate their complaint to help inform a decision
to appeal and as appropriate aid them to prepare their appeal

e concerns about the independence of any council appeal hearing — and
that an appeal panel should enable ‘a fresh set of eyes’ or that appeals
could be heard by a neighbouring authority

e suggestion that there should be prescribed qualifying ‘grounds for appeal’

e concerns about the resource implications of servicing and managing
appeals

In response to the question of whether appeals panels should be in-house
within authorities or whether there was a need for an external national
function to hear appeals to the sanction of suspension, 69% agree with the
statement that and external national body would help uphold impartiality,
with 25% of the view that appeals should be held by an internal panel. And
96% thought both member and claimant appeals should be in scope.

As referenced above, the government does consider that both complainants
and the subject elected member should have the right for review a
standards committee decision following investigation. This right of review
would be conducted at a local level and only those cases that have be the
subject of a review will be eligible for then progressing to the national
appeals function. We will work with stakeholders to finalise grounds for
exercising the right for review.

In the current standards and conduct regime there is no route to appeal
code of conduct standards decisions, though some authorities already
operate a ‘right to review’ within their complaint handling processes.



Page 35
The devolved nations have broadly similar grounds for appeal including
procedural errors, new evidence or a disproportionate or unfair sanction.

Government has listened carefully to the range of views on the
establishment of a national appeals function and considers this is
necessary. Government is keen to ensure that it operates coherently and
supportively with the delivery of the strengthened standards and conduct
regime locally.

Eligible appeals will be those cases where either complainant or subject
member has already invoked and completed the ‘right to review’ process
with the principal authority standards committee.

Summary

In response, government plans to legislate on arrangements for appeals
to code of conduct decisions following further consideration of the
detailed requirements to support the proposed local ‘right to review’
code of conduct case decisions, and the scope and scale of a national
appeals function.

Annex - consultation responses report

Responses to this survey: 2092

1: In what capacity are you responding to this
consultation?

There were 2086 responses to this question.

Option Total

An elected member of a council body 33.2%
A council officer | 35.6%
A coun.cil body 11.8%

A member of the public 15.2%




Page 36

Option Total
A local government sector body 3.9%
Not answered 0.3%

Please indicate the local authority type:

There were 1687 responses to this question.

Option Total
Town or vParish Council | | 56.9%
District or Borough Council 12%
Unitary Authority | 8%
County Council 2.2%

Combined Authority / Combined County Authority 0.4%

Fire and Rescue Authority 0%
Police and Crime Panel 0%
Other local authority type 1.1%

Not answered 19.4%

2: Do you think the government should prescribe a
mandatory minimum code of conduct for local
authorities in England?

There were 2053 responses to this question.



Page 37

Option Total
Yes 93.9%
No 4.2%

Not answered 1.9%

There were 157 narrative responses to this question.

whilst some respondents indicated that they felt the current system is
adequate and therefore there is no need for a mandatory code, many of
the comments focused on what the composition of the code should look
like

some respondents argued that there should be some ability at the local

level to build upon the provisions of a national code, whereas others were
clear that there should be no local variation

there was a clear sense that the Nolan principles remain important and
that any mandatory code should reflect and reinforce the values to which
those principles hold those in public office

there was a range of views on who should ultimately set the code,
reinforcing importance of the government consulting further on its
provisions

3: If yes, do you agree there should be scope for local
authorities to add to a mandatory minimum code of
conduct to reflect specific local challenges?

There were 2010 responses to this question.

Option Total

Yes — it is important that local authorities have flexibility to 61.2%
add to a prescribed code

No — a prescribed code should be uniform across the country 29.3%

Unsure 5.6%

Not answered 3.9%



Page 38

4: Do you think the government should set out a code
of conduct requirement for members to cooperate with
investigations into code breaches?

There were 2049 responses to this question.

Option Total
Yes 91.2%
No 4%
Unsure 2.7%

Not answered 2.1%

9: Does your local authority currently maintain a
standards committee?

There were 1953 responses to this question.

Option Total
Yes 60.1%
No 33.3%

Not answered 6.6%

There were 631 narrative responses to this question:

 a number of respondents noted that whilst their authority or principal
authority maintains a standards committee, it is in its current form
ineffective in dealing with instances of member misconduct where it
arises

e an increased focus on independence was noted as being important in
improving effectiveness, suggesting support for measures to ensure that
a requirement for independent members should be built into any



. . Page 39 . -
measures governing the constitution of committees with responsibility for

member standards

6: Should all principal authorities be required to form a
standards committee?

There were 2029 responses to this question.

Option Total
Yes 90.8%
No 6.2%

Not answered 3%

There were 388 narrative responses to this question:

o a key theme of the responses to this question was an emphasis on
ensuring impartiality and protecting against political bias when
adjudicating on potential code of conduct breaches, consistent with the
emphasis on fairness and independence that runs through the comments

on many other questions

» several respondents felt that mandating standards committees would
improve the overall effectiveness of the standards process, although
some emphasised a need for flexibility around how standards committees
are structured

e a number of respondents made the point that whilst there is a need for a
committee responsible for standards, it could form part of another
committee’s remit rather than necessitating a standards committee

7: In most principal authorities, code of conduct
complaints are typically submitted in the first instance
to the local authority Monitoring Officer to triage,
before referring a case for full investigation. Should all
alleged code of conduct breaches which are referred
for investigation be heard by the relevant principal
authority’s standards committee?



Page 40
There were 2035 responses to this question.

Option Total
Yes, decisions should only be heard by standards committees 62.2%

No, local authorities should have discretion to allow decisions 23.4%
to be taken by full council

Unsure 11.7%

Not answered 2.7%

8: Do you agree that the Independent Person and co-
opted members should be given voting rights?

There were 2031 responses to this question.

Option Total
Yes — this is important for ensuring objectivity 68.3%

No - only elected members of the council in question should 20.3%
have voting rights

Unsure 8.5%

Not answered 2.9%

9: Should standards committees be chaired by the
Independent Person?

There were 2026 responses to this question.

Option Total

Yes 62.5%



Page 41

Option Total
No 15.6%
Unsure 18.7%

Not answered 3.2%

10: If you have further views on ensuring fairness and
objectivity and reducing incidences of vexatious
complaints, please use the free text box below.

There were 857 narrative responses to this question:

« the need to protect against political bias in order to ensure fairness and
objectivity was once again prevalent in the response to this question

« specifically in regard to reducing incidences of vexatious complaints,
there was a range of suggestions including a greater focus on mediation,
barring vexatious complainants from registering further complaints, and
training for Monitoring Officers to identify vexatious complaints

« the point raised most frequently by respondents was that there is a need
to ensure that local authorities have a clear and consistent process for
identifying and addressing vexatious complaints

11: Should local authorities be required to publish
annually a list of allegations of code of conduct
breaches, and any investigation outcomes?

There were 2017 responses to this question.

Option Total

Yes - the public should have full access to all allegations and 46.6%
investigation outcomes

No - only cases in which a member is found guilty of 49.8%
wrongdoing should be published



Page 42

Option Total

Not answered 3.6%

There were 663 narrative responses to this question:

there was a wide range of comments for this question, ranging from the
view that all code of conduct breach allegations and outcomes should be
published, to none at all

many people felt there should be some degree of balance — views
expressed included publishing breach details only where the complaint is
upheld, publishing the allegation whilst maintaining the anonymity of both
parties, and publishing a periodic summary of cases rather than the full
detail

some respondents felt that exonerations should be published in cases
where complaints are not upheld, and others felt that decisions relating to
what is published should be determined on a case-by-case basis

12: Should investigations into the conduct of members
who stand down before a decision continue to their
conclusion, and the findings be published?

There were 2055 responses to this question.

Option Total
Yes | 80.3%
No 8.2%
Unsure »9.7%

Not answered 1.8%

13: If responding as a local authority, what is the
average number of complaints against elected
members that you receive over a 12-month period?



Page 43

Number of complaints

There were 705 responses to this part of the question. Responses ranged
from O to 174 average complaints, with an average of 6.7 complaints over a
12-month period. 48% of respondents noted receiving between 1 and 10
complaints, whilst 14% said they received more than 10 complaints. 37%
said they had received no complaints.

13a: For the above, where possible, please provide a
breakdown for complaints made by officers, other
elected members, the public, or any other source:

352 respondents were able to accurately breakdown their average
complaints over a 12-month period for complaints made by officers, other
elected members, the public, or any other source. 55% of complaints came
from the public. 12% were complaints from other members, 30% were
complaints from officers.

14: If you currently work, or have worked, within a
local authority, have you ever been the victim of (or
witnessed) an instance of misconduct by an elected
member and felt that you could not come forward?

There were 1293 responses to this question.

Option Total
Yes 29.3%
No 32.5%

Not answered 38.2%

There were 676 narrative responses to this question:

« the comments associated with this question pointed strongly towards a
lack of faith in the current standards framework amongst respondents

« many indicated that they had witnessed or been subjected to bullying or
harassment, but did not come forward because they feared reprisal, felt
that the current sanctions available are not sufficient to make it



Page 44

worthwhile, were concerned about the influence elected members have
over officers, or feared it would harm their standing in the community

» some respondents also highlighted cultural barriers within their council
that prevented them coming forward

15: If you are an elected member, have you ever been
subject to a code of conduct complaint?

There were 887 responses to this question.

Option Total
Yes 10.5%
No 31.9%

Not answered 57.6%

If so, did you feel you received appropriate support to engage with the
investigation?
There were 377 narrative responses to this question:

e many respondents to this question restated their ‘yes’ or ‘no’ response

o of those who did expand upon this, several cited a lack of clarity in the
investigative process. A lack of support for independent members without
party or group support was also raised

16: If you did come forward as a victim or witness,
what support did you receive, and from whom? Is
there additional support you would have liked to
receive?

There were 630 narrative responses to this question:
e in responding to this question, many respondents took the opportunity to

note that they felt they received no support when coming forward

e a significant proportion of respondents noted that they either did receive,
or would have liked to receive, support from their local authority, whilst
others referenced the importance of independent support during the



Page 45
process, including in the form of impartial mediators or emotional support
services

« others mentioned the importance of the Monitoring Officer in the process
and their role in triaging complaints to filter out those which may be
vexatious

17: In your view, what measures would help to ensure
that people who are victims of, or witness, serious
councillor misconduct feel comfortable coming
forward and raising a complaint?

There were 1326 narrative responses to this question:

o of particular note amongst the comments attached to this question is the
number of respondents who emphasised the importance of giving
complainants confidence that there are real consequences for
misconduct to make coming forward worthwhile. Associated with this,
many respondents noted that clear sanctions need to be in place to
ensure appropriate action can be taken

« a number of respondents called for clearer process, and noted that
investigations should be completed in a timely manner. Others talked
about the importance of there being some element of independence to
the process and that complainants should be given appropriate support
including anonymity where appropriate

18: Do you think local authorities should be given the
power to suspend elected members for serious code
of conduct breaches?

There were 2039 responses to this question.

Option Total
Yes — authorities should be given the power to suspend 86.4%
members

No — authorities should not be given the power to suspend 6.6%

members



Page 46

Option Total
Unsure 4.5%

Not answered 2.5%

19: Do you think that it is appropriate for a standards
committee to have the power to suspend members, or
should this be the role of an independent body?

There were 2023 responses to this question.

Option Total

Yes - the decision to suspend for serious code of conduct 60%
breaches should be for the standards committee

No - a decision to suspend should be referred to an 27.4%

independent body
Unsure 9.3%
Not answered 3.3%

There were 650 narrative responses to this question:

e a significant number of respondents to this question emphasised the
importance of impartiality and protections against political bias where the
sanction of suspension is concerned, with some respondents suggesting
that an independent body would provide this impartiality and protect
against misuse

« others felt that a peer-led process for considering the sanction of
suspension would be most appropriate, whilst others felt that decisions
around suspension should be taken by full council

e whilst the prevailing theme was in relation to impartiality, some
respondents did note concerns that vesting this process in an
independent body may lead to delays in the process



Page 47

20: Where it is deemed that suspension is an

appropriate response to a code of conduct breach,

should local authorities be required to nominate an

alternative point of contact for constituents during

their absence?

There were 2027 responses to this question.

Option

Yes — councils should be required to ensure that constituents
have an alternative point of contact during a councillor’s
suspension

No — it should be for individual councils to determine their
own arrangements for managing constituents’ representation
during a period of councillor suspension

Unsure

Not answered

21: If the government reintroduced the power of

Total

59.4%
31.2%

6.3%
3.1%

suspension do you think there should be a maximum

length of suspension?

There were 2010 responses to this question.

Option

Yes — the government should set a maximum length of
suspension of 6 months

Yes — however the government should set a different
maximum length (please speclfy)

No - I do not think the government should set a maximum
length of suspension

Total

51 4%

15.5%

21.1%



Page 48

Option Total
Unsure 8.1%
Not answered 3.9%

If you think the government should set a different maximum length,
what should this be, in months?

There were 371 responses to this part of the question. 51% of respondents
were of the view that government should set a maximum of 6 months. 15%
considered that the maximum period should be different and 21% did not
think the government should prescribe the maximum period. Whilst there
was a range of views, few thought it should be less than 6 months with the
most popular alternative length of maximum suspension suggested as 12
months.

22: If yes, how frequently do you consider councils
would be likely to make use of the maximum length of
suspension?

There were 1841 responses to this question.

Option Total

Infrequently - likely to be applied only to the most egregious 61.7%
code of conduct breaches

Frequently - likely to be applied in most cases, with some 11.6%
exceptions for less serious breaches

Almost always - likely to be the default length of suspension 5.2%
for code of conduct breaches

Unsure 9.5%

Not answered 12%

23: Should local authorities have the power to
withhold allowances from suspended councillors in



Page 49
cases where they deem it appropriate?

There were 2032 responses to this question.

Option Total

Yes — councils should have the option to withhold allowances 86.5%
from suspended councillors

No — suspended councillors should continue to receive 6%

allowances
Unsure 4.6%
Not answered 2.9%

24: Do you think it should be put beyond doubt that
local authorities have the power to ban suspended
councillors from council premises and to withdraw the
use of council facilities in cases where they deem it
appropriate?

There were 2030 responses to this question.

Option Total

Yes — premises and facilities bans are an important tool in 88.3%
tackling serious conduct issues

No — suspended councillors should still be able to use council 4.8%
premises and facilities

Unsure 3.9%

Not answered 3%

25: Do you agree that the power to withhold members’
allowances and to implement premises and facilities



Page 50
bans should also be standalone sanctions in their own

right?

There were 2029 responses to this question.

Option Total
Yes 70%
No 13.4%
Unsure 13.6%

Not Answered 3%

26: Do you think the power to suspend councillors on
an interim basis pending the outcome of an
investigation would be an appropriate measure?

There were 1990 responses to this question.

Option Total
Yes, powers to suspend on an interim basis would be 78.8%
hecessary

No, intérim suspension would not be necessary 16.3%
Not answered | | 4.9%

Do you think the power to suspend councillors on an interim basis
pending the outcome of an investigation would be an appropriate
measure? Comments.

There were 589 narrative responses to this question:

e alarge number of responses to this question focused on the need to
ensure that whilst interim suspension receives broad support, it should
only be used in exceptional circumstances

e many respondents emphasised that it should be tied to the severity of the
case, further reinforcing the view that interim suspension should not be
invoked lightly, whilst some spoke of the value of guidance to support



Page 51
local authorities in understanding when interim suspension is or is not
appropriate

« those respondents who do not favour the introduction of interim
suspension noted the principle of assuming the accused is innocent until

proven guilty

27: Do you agree that local authorities should have the
power to impose premises and facilities bans on
councillors who are suspended on an interim basis?

There were 2007 responses to this question.

Option Total

Yes - the option to institute premises and facilities bans whilst 74.4%
serious misconduct cases are investigated is important

No - members whose investigations are ongoing should retain 16.8%
access to council premises and facilities

Unsure 4.7%

Not answered 4.1%

28: Do you think councils should be able to impose an
interim suspension for any period of time they deem

fit?

There were 1979 responses to this question.

Option Total
Yes 43.5%

No 51.1%

Not answered 5.4%



Page 52

There were 632 narrative responses to this question:

the most prevalent views expressed by respondents to this question
focused on the need for appropriate safeguards

many respondents noted that interim suspension should include clearly
defined time limits, and that there should be a focus on quick resolutions
to investigations to avoid protracted periods of interim suspension

others noted the need for regular review points and reiterated the need
for clear guidance. Those who are less keen on the introduction of interim
suspension cited concerns that it could be used as a sanction in and of
itself

29: Do you agree that an interim suspension should
initially be for up to a maximum of 3 months, and then
subject to review?

There were 1965 responses to this question.

Option Total
Yes 72.5%
No 21.4%

Not answered 6.1%

There were 350 narrative responses to this the question:

L}

respondents to this question again noted the importance of quick
resolution to investigations to avoid protracted interim suspension
periods, and reiterated that it is a measure which should only be used in
exceptional circumstances

some respondents expressed the view that there should be no extension
to a period of interim suspension beyond the initial time allocated, whilst
others believe that any interim suspension should never exceed the
maximum length of full suspension

30: If following a 3-month review of an interim
suspension, a standards committee decided to extend,



Page 53
do you think there should be safeguards to ensure a
period of interim extension is not allowed to run on
unchecked?

There were 1980 responses to this question.

Option Total
Yes — there should be safeguards 71.8%
No — councils will know the details of individual cases and 22.8%

should be trusted to act responsibly

Not answered 5.4%

30a: If you answered yes to above question, what
safeguards do you think might be needed to ensure
that unlimited suspension is not misused?

There were 1099 narrative responses to this question:

« many of the comments under this question reiterated the view that there
should be time limits attached to interim suspension, alongside regular
review points

o respondents also restated the view that any power of interim suspension
should be accompanied by guidance, and that there should be an
element of independence built into the process for deciding if interim
suspension is appropriate in any given case

31: Do you think councillors should be disqualified if
subject to suspension more than once?

There were 1956 responses to this question.

Option Total

Yes — twice within a 5-year period should result in 59.6%
disqualification for 5 years



Page 54
Option Total

Yes — but for a different length of time and/or within a different 14.7%
timeframe (please specify)

No - the power to suspend members whenever they breach 19.2%
codes of conduct is sufficient

Not answered 6.5%

If you think councillors should be disqualified if subject to suspension
more than once over a period different to 5 years, what should this be,
in years?

There were 303 responses to this part of the question. The most common
alternative the proposed 5 years was 3 years (24.7%), closely followed by 4
years (23.7%). A smaller number of respondents (17.5%) considered that
disqualification should apply for more than one suspension over a period of
1 or 2 years, whilst some proposed 10 years (10.5%). 10.2% of respondents
felt disqualification should be for more than one suspension over a period of
greater than 10 years.

If you think the government should set a different disqualification
period, what should this be, in years?

There were 203 responses to this part of the question. The most common
alternative to the proposed 5 years’ length of disqualification was 4 years
(23.1%), followed by 3 years (14.8%). A smaller number of respondents
(8.8%) considered that a disqualification period of 1 of 2 years was more
appropriate, whilst 18.7% felt that a more punitive disqualification period of
10 years should be imposed. 16.2% of respondents felt disqualification
should be for a period of greater than 10 years.

Do you think councillors should be disqualified if subject to
suspension more than once? Comments
There were 485 narrative responses to this question:

* as with interim suspension, a significant proportion of those who left
comments indicated that they believe disqualification should only be used
in exceptional circumstances

* whilst there was support for disqualification for multiple breaches of the
code of conduct which result in suspension, a number of respondents
suggested that disqualification should be reserved for two or more
lengthy periods of suspension to avoid situations in which a member is
disqualified too readily

« in terms of the period of time for which the disqualification should apply,
amongst the minority who do not support disqualification for a 5-year



Page 55
period, a number of respondents suggested that there should instead be
alignment with the member’s term of office

e some comments suggest more consideration is needed before
broadening the existing disqualification criteria, whilst some respondents
expressed the view that only the public should decide who represents
them

32: Is there a case for immediate disqualification for
gross misconduct, for example in instances of theft or
physical violence impacting the safety of other
members and/or officers, provided there has been an
investigation of the incident and the member has had a
chance to respond before a decision is made?

There were 2018 responses to this question.

Option Total
Yes 82.1%
No 7.9%
Unsure 6.5%

Not answered 3.5%

There were 476 narrative responses to this question:

« many of the responses to this question reiterated the view that
disqualification should only be used in exceptional circumstances, and
that there should be appropriate safeguards in place to protect against
misuse

« respondents who are unsupportive of disqualification raised a range of
views, including the suggestion that serious misconduct should be dealt
with via the criminal justice system, that it would be imperative for guilt to
be proven, and that suspension may be more appropriate

« a number of respondents were supportive of disqualification for gross
misconduct on the basis that there should be parity with what would
happen in an employment setting



Page 56

33: Should members have the right to appeal a
decision to suspend them?

There were 2020 responses to this question.

Option Total

Yes - it is right that any member issued with a sanction of 86.1%
suspension can appeal the decision

No — a council’s decision following consideration of an 8.2%
investigation should be final

Unsure 2.3%

Not answered 3.4%

34: Should suspended members have to make their
appeal within a set timeframe?

There were 1922 responses to this question.

Option Total

Yes — within 5 days of the decision is appropriate to ensure an 53.2%
efficient process

Yes — but within a different length of time (please specify) 35.6%
No — there should be no time limit for appealing a decision 3.1%
Not answered 8.1%

If you think the government should set a different appeals timeframe,
what should this be, in days?

There were 738 responses to this question. Views ranged between 7
working days to 100, with the most popular alternative to the proposed 5
working days being 10 or 14.



Page 57

35: Do you consider that a complainant should have a
right of appeal when a decision is taken not to
investigate their complaint?

There were 2014 responses to this question.

Option Total

Yes 52.9%
.No 30.1%
Unsure 13.3%

Not answered 3.7%

36: Do you consider that a complainant should have a
right of appeal when an allegation of misconduct is not
upheld?

There were 2016 responses to this question.

Option Total

Yes 46.2%
No 35.2%
.UnsL|re 14.9%

Not answered 3.7%

37: If you answered yes to either of the previous two
questions, please use the free text box below to share



Page 58
views on what you think is the most suitable route of
appeal for either or both situations.

There were 755 narrative responses to this question:

e respondents to this question were keen to emphasise the importance of
ensuring that there is an independent element to any appeals process,
with a number suggesting that the appeals process should sit with an
independent body, whether national or regional

« other views included the suggestion that appeals should be limited to
specific cases, that the number of appeals that can be made in relation to
a given decision, and that there should be no appeal for complaints that
are deemed to be vexatious

* conversely, some respondents suggested that appeals should be heard
in-house, either by the standards committee or full council, with a small
number arguing that judicial review represents the most appropriate
appeals route

38: Do you think there is a need for an external
national body to hear appeals?

There were 1977 responses to this question.

Option Total
Yes — an external appeals body would help to uphold 69.1%
impartiality

No — appeals cases should be heard by an internal panel 25.4%

Not answered 5.5%

There were 481 narrative responses to this question:

e broadly in keeping with the quantitative responses, a large number of
those who left a comment for this question were supportive of a national
appeals body

e the reasons for this included the fact that it would bring greater
impartiality to the process, as well as fairness and consistency of
decision-making

 some respondents suggested that an external appeals process is
important but only for significant sanctions such as suspension



Page 59
of those respondents who are opposed to the creation of a national body,
a common rationale was that it would be overly expensive and
bureaucratic

some respondents suggested that appeals should be peer-led, or
overseen by the principal authority

39: If you think there is a need for an external national
appeals body, do you think it should:

There were 1548 responses to this question.

Option Total

Be limited to hearing elected member appeals 16.6%

Be limited to hearing claimant appeals 1.3%
Both of the above should be in scope 56.1%
Not answered 26%

There were 480 narrative responses to this question:

again, comments were largely consistent with the qualitative responses in
advocating for both complainants and those subject to a complaint to be
able to avail themselves of the appeals process, largely on the grounds of
fairness

of those who commented, a notable minority felt the appeals process
should be limited only to members subject to a complaint or sanction, with
no recourse to appeal for complainants

40: In your view, would the proposed reforms to the
local government standards and conduct framework
particularly benefit or disadvantage individuals with
protected characteristics, for example those with
disabilities or caring responsibilities?

There were 1978 responses to this question.



Page 60

Option Total
It would benefit individuals with protected characteristics 32%
it would disadvantage individuals with protected 3.2%

characteristics
Neither 59.4%

Not answered 5.4%

There were 399 narrative responses to this question:

o most of those who commented indicated that they felt the measures
would either be beneficial to those with protected characteristics, or
neutral.

e some respondents used this comment field to stress the importance of
PSED considerations

1. An Independent Person is a person who is not a member, co-opted
member, or officer of the authority, and who has not held such a position
within the previous 5 years. They are appointed under Section 28 of the
Localism Act 2011 to support the authority with code of conduct
complaints and standards issues. Essentially, they are a neutral party
brought in to help ensure fairness and impartiality in handling matters of
standards and conduct within the council.

OGL

All content is available under the Open Government Licence v3.0, except where otherwise stated © Crown copyright




Page 61 Agenda ltem 7

Rotherham »
Metropolitan ‘
Borough Council

Public Report
Standards and Ethics Committee

Committee Name and Date of Committee Meeting

Standards and Ethics Committee - 15 January 2026

Report Title

Standards and Ethics Committee — Review of the Sub-Committee Hearing

Procedure

Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan?
No

Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report
N/A

Report Author(s)
Stuart Fletcher, Service Manager (Commercial and Property)
01709 823523 stuart.fletcher@rotherham.gov.uk

Ward(s) Affected
Borough-Wide

Report Summary
A report in respect of a review of the Standards and Ethics Committee Sub-Committee
Hearing Procedure.
Recommendations
1. That the Committee consider the Sub-Committee Hearing Procedure at
Appendix 1 and make any suggestions for improvement.

2. That the Committee approve the Sub Committee Hearing Procedure subject
to any amendments made in respect of Recommendation one.

List of Appendices Included
Appendix 1 Sub Committee Hearing Procedure

Background Papers
None

Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel
None

Council Approval Required
No

Exempt from the Press and Public

Page 1 of 3



Page 62

Rotherham »
Metropolitan ‘
Borough Council

No

Standards and Ethics Committee - Review of the Sub Committee Hearing
Procedure

1. Background

1.1  The final part of the Standards and Ethics Committee Complaints Procedure

1.2

1.3

1.4

6.1

is the hearing of the complaint before a Sub Committee, if it is considered that
a breach of the Code of Conduct may have occurred, and it has not been
possible for the complaint to be informally resolved.

The current Hearing Procedure (referred to as the “Order of Proceedings” in
the document) is at Appendix 1. This procedure is in accordance with the
principles of natural justice and the Subject Members right to a fair trial under
Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998.

Further the Hearing Procedure is in accordance with the Local Government
Association Guidance on Complaint Handling, published in July 2021.

The Monitoring Officer has considered the Hearing Procedure and is not of
the opinion that any changes are required to be made. However, Members of
the Committee, in particular those who have experience of sitting on Sub
Committee hearings are asked for their views as to the operation of the
procedure in respect of hearings, and whether any improvements could be
made.

Key Issues

As set out above.

Options considered and recommended proposal

This is a periodic review of the Hearing Procedure and as such the only other
option in respect of this issue is not to undertake a review of the Hearing
Procedure which is not recommended.

Consultation on proposal

N/A

Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision

The approved/amended Hearing Procedure will be used at all subsequent
Sub Committee hearing following this meeting.

Financial and Procurement Advice and Implications

The officer time in reviewing this Procedure is met within existing Legal
Services resources.

Page 2 of 3



Page 63

Rotherham »
Metropolitan ‘
Borough Council
7. Legal Advice and Implications

7.1  The Council and the Standards and Ethics Committee have a statutory duty to
promote and maintain high standards of conduct. Pursuant to the Localism
Act 2011, the Council is required to adopt appropriate Complaint Handling
arrangements for the investigation of allegations of breach of the Code of
Conduct. The Sub Committee Hearing Procedure forms an important part of
those arrangements.

8. Human Resources Advice and Implications
None

9. Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults
None

10. Equalities and Human Rights Advice and Implications
None

11. Implications for Partners
None

12. Risks and Mitigation
None

13. Accountable Officer(s)
Bal Nahal, Head of Legal Services

Report Author: Stuart Fletcher, Service Manager (Commercial and Property)

01709 823523 - stuart.fletcher@rotherham.gov.uk
This report is published on the Council's website.

Page 3 of 3


https://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=

Page 64

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 65

Standards and Ethics Committee — Hearings Panel

ORDER OF PROCEEDINGS

INTRODUCTION

The Chair will introduce him/herself, the members of the Panel, the Independent Person, the
Monitoring Officer, and the Democratic Services Officer.

The Chair will then explain that the Panel will hear the evidence from the Investigating Officer.
and then the member who is the subject of the complaint (“the Subject Member”).

The Investigating Officer will introduce the officers present and any witnesses.
The Subject Member will introduce him/herself and any person with him/her either to support the

Subject Member or give evidence on his/her behalf.

PRESENTATION OF THE CASE BY THE INVESTIGATING OFFICER

The Investigating Officer will explain the nature of the complaint and the investigation and then
call each witness individually.

The Complainant (if in attendance) will usually give evidence first and will explain the nature of
the complaint. The Chair will ask the complainant what outcome they would want from the
process.

Each witness will answer questions from the Investigating Officer.

The Subject Member can ask any relevant questions of the Investigating Officer or witness.

The members of the Panel can ask any relevant questions of the Investigating Officer or witness.
The Investigating Officer can ask any questions of the witness to clarify any issues which may

have arisen from the earlier questions.

PRESENTATION OF THE CASE BY THE SUBJECT MEMBER

The Subject Member will explain the nature of his/her case i.e. which findings of fact in the
investigation he/she disagrees with, and why. He/she will then present each witness he/she
intends to call on his behalf.

Each witness will answer questions from the Subject Member.

The Investigating Officer can ask any relevant questions of the Subject Member’s witness.

The Subject Member or any witnesses will answer questions from the Panel members.

Each witness can be asked further questions by the Subject Member to clarify any issues which
may have arisen from the earlier questioning.

031787 / 842090 Page 1



Page 66

CLOSING SUBMISSIONS

The Investigating Officer will summarise the most important points of the case and invite the
Panel to make a determination.

The Subject Member will summarise the most important points of his/her case.

The Chair will ask all parties to leave the room whilst the Panel, in consultation with the
Independent Person and with advice from the Monitoring Officer, considers the matter.

The parties will be invited to return in order to hear the Panel’s decision.

FURTHER ACTION

If the Panel determines that the Subject Member has breached the Code of Conduct, it will invite
the Investigating Officer and the Subject Member to address it on any action that it might take.

The parties will again be asked to leave the room. They will be invited to return in order to h
the Panel’s decision on the action to be taken.

ear

(Note: the procedure set out above will be adapted to suit the circumstances of the case, e.g. if

there are no witnesses to be called to give evidence, certain parts of the procedure will not
apply).

031787 / 842090

Page 2



Page 67 Agenda Item 8

Rotherham »
Metropolitan ‘
Borough Council
Public Report
Standards and Ethics Committee

Committee Name and Date of Committee Meeting
Standards and Ethics Committee - 15 January 2026

Report Title
Standards and Ethics Committee - Appointment of Independent Member to the
Standards and Ethics Committee

Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan?
No

Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report
N/A

Report Author(s)

Stuart Fletcher, Service Manager (Commercial and Property)
01709 823523

stuart.fletcher@rotherham.gov.uk

Ward(s) Affected
Borough-Wide

Report Summary

A report recommending the appointment of an Independent Member to the
Standards and Ethics Committee following a recruitment and interview process
Recommendations

That the Committee:

1) Recommends to Council the appointment of Ruby Wright as a co-opted
Independent member of the Standards and Ethics Committee until the Annual
General Meeting of the Council in 2029.

List of Appendices Included

None

Background Papers
None

Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel
None

Council Approval Required

Page 1 of 3



Yes

Page 68

Rotherham »
Metropolitan ‘
Borough Council

Exempt from the Press and Public

No

Standards and Ethics Committee - Appointment of an Independent Member to
the Standards and Ethics Committee

1.2

6.1

7.1

Background

The Standard and Ethics Committee comprises eight borough councillors,
three Parish Councillors and five independent members. Following two
resignations by Independent members of the Standards and Ethics
Committee last year, a recruitment exercise was undertaken as agreed by the
Committee.

One application was received for the role and the candidate was interviewed
by the two Deputy Monitoring Officers. The candidate is Ruby Wright, who
has experience in teaching and governance and is considered to be suitable
for the role and will provide beneficial expertise and enthusiasm to inform and
assist the Committee’s work, should it approve the appointment as
recommended.

Key Issues

The key issues are set out above.

Options considered and recommended proposal

Recommended proposals are set out above.

Consultation on proposal

An appropriate recruitment and interview process was undertaken in respect
of the role.

Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision

The appointment will be recommended to and considered at the next full
Council meeting.

Financial and Procurement Advice and Implications
None
Legal Advice and Implications

The Council and the Standards and Ethics Committee have a statutory duty to
promote and maintain high standards of conduct. Independent members are

Page 2 of 3



10.

11.

12.

13.

Page 69

Rotherham »
Metropolitan ‘
Borough Council
an important part of the Committee and provide valuable insight and
contribution to the work undertaken by the Committee.

Human Resources Advice and Implications

None

Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults
None

Equalities and Human Rights Advice and Implications

None

Implications for Partners

None

Risks and Mitigation

None

Accountable Officer(s)
Bal Nahal, Head of Legal Services

Report Author: Stuart Fletcher, Service Manager (Commercial and Property)
01709 823523 - stuart.fletcher@rotherham.gov.uk
This report is published on the Council's website.

Page 3 of 3


https://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=

Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 71 Agenda ltem 9

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 75

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 81 Agenda Item 10

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 85

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 11th September, 2025
	5 Strengthening the Standards and Conduct Framework for Local Authorities in England - Consultation Results and Government Response
	Strengthening Standards and Conduct Framework

	7 Review of the Sub-Committee Hearing Procedure
	Standards_and_Ethics_Committee___Order_of_Proceedings

	8 Appointment of Independent Member
	9 A Review of Concerns Raised Pursuant to the Whistleblowing Policy
	Exempt App Whistleblowing Schedule -Dec 25 for Jan 26 SEC

	10 Review of Complaints
	Exempt App SEC Complaints - January 2026 Final


